
1 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE HOUSING SPC 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2., 

 
ON THURSDAY, 16 OCTOBER 2014 AT 2.30 PM 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

THURSDAY, 16 OCTOBER 2014 
 

  PAGE 
 
1   Chairperson's Welcome   

 
 

2   Minutes of meeting dated 28th April 2014 and matters arising   
 

1 - 2 

3   Chairperson's Business   
 

 

4   Update on Tenancy Protection Service   
 

3 - 42 

5   Call for 'Expressions of Interest' to produce housing for public rental   
 

43 - 60 

6   Innovative construction and modular building options for housing provision   
 

 

7   AOB   
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HOUSING STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE  
SPECIAL MEETING 

 
 

MONDAY 28TH
 APRIL 2014 

 
 

MINUTES 
 
 

1. Minutes of meetings dated 24th February 2014 and 25th March 2014 and 
matters arising 

 
Cllr Mannix Flynn expressed his dissatisfaction with what he believed to be the leaking to the 
press of an internal report into a complaint made by him.  The Chair said this was a matter for 
the Protocol Committee if Cllr Flynn wished to pursue it, and not the Housing SPC. 
 
Agreed:  Cllr Flynn’s comments noted.   
 

 
2. Chairperson’s Business. 
 
No matters arising. 

 
 
3. Traveller Accommodation Update 
 
Report circulated to members prior to the meeting.  No matters arising. 
 
Agreed:  Traveller Accommodation Update accepted. 
 
 

4. Rents for Third Level Students 
 
Report circulated to members prior to the meeting.  Cllr Christy Burke requested that this 
issue be discussed as a result of representations on behalf of a constituent with adult children 
in full time education and their query regarding the differential rent scheme. 
 
Agreed:  Cllr Christy Burke to discuss individual case here with Céline Reilly, Executive 
Manager. 
 
 

5. Implementation of National Housing Strategy for People with Disabilities 
 
Lillian Buchanan of the Disability Federation of Ireland (DFI) gave a presentation on the 
implementation of the National Strategy for People with Disabilities.  She mentioned the lack 
of suitable housing for people with disabilities and the national programme to move people 
out of institutional care and into supported living in the community.   A housing sub-group with 
representatives from the various agencies will draft guidelines for implementing this strategy.  
This is to be signed off by the CCMA.  She stressed the importance of matching suitable 
adapted accommodation to those who need it as this will encourage independent living.  She 
also recommended the promotion of performance indicators in order to monitor cases where 
such matches are made. 
 
Cllr Burke thanked Lillian for her presentation.  He acknowledged the difficulty and the delay 
in sourcing suitable accommodation for people with disabilities.  He also cited funding issues 

Page 1



that have delayed adaptations necessary to promote independent living.  He commended 
Housing Maintenance staff but said that cuts in funding here have created a backlog of works 
which need to be carried out.  These adaptations should be a priority and he called on Cllrs to 
lobby for increased funding in this area.  Cllr Flynn agreed there is a need to prioritise funding 
in this area.  He pointed out that car-parking in DCC flat complexes can create obstructions to 
wheelchair users.  He said that a downstairs bathroom can make a huge difference to people 
with mobility issues.  Cllr Lucy McRoberts said that the waiting list here is unacceptable and 
asked what is being done to alleviate this.   Kath Cottier said that where Approved Housing 
Bodies (AHBs) have developed successful schemes it is as a result of early and constant 
engagement with groups such as the Disability Federation of Ireland to ensure their needs are 
addressed.   
 
The Manager said that the allocated budget does help some but cannot meet the needs of all 
applicants who are in need of adaptations to their home.   He acknowledged that there are 
challenges ahead regarding the programme for people in institutional care and their move into 
community living.  He also said that Local Authorities and Government need to work together 
to address supply issues. 
 
Lillian Buchanan stated that supply of appropriate units here is critical.  Need to be aware of 
accessible/adapted units in order to make suitable matches. 
 
Gerry Geraghty, Executive Manager advised that a Housing Disability Steering Group has 
been set up with representatives from DCC, Health Services, AHBs and DFI.   
 

 
Agreed: Forward Presentations to the Housing SPC members. 
 
 

6. AOB 
 
At the close of the last current Housing SPC the Chair thanked the SPC members and DCC 
staff for the last five years of the Housing SPC.   
 
Cllr Flynn requested that a report on eviction notices and notice to quit is made to the next 
Housing SPC meeting.  Cllr Ray McAdam asked for an update on the intensified inspection 
scheme.  The Manger advised that he will provide an update on this to Cllr McAdam. 
 
 
 
 
In Attendance: 
  
Councillors:  
Dermot Lacey, Clare Byrne, Ray McAdam, Christy Burke, Louise Minihan, Lucy McRoberts, 
Mannix Flynn 
 
Sectoral Interests:  
Kath Cottier, Aideen Hayden, Paul Kelly, Lillian Buchanan, Jason O’Sullivan (for Sonya 
Felton) 
 
Officials:  
Dick Brady, Gerry Geraghty, Céline Reilly, Cormac O’Donnell, David Healy, Elaine O’Kelly 
 
Apologies: 
Cllr Brian McDowell, Cllr Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
 
Councillor Dermot Lacey  
 
CHAIRPERSON 
 

Page 2



P
age 3



Photo by identity chris is - Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike License  https://www.flickr.com/photos/95579828@N00 Created with Haiku Deck 

Rationale for Service 
 
Shortage  

Rationale 
 

•Accommodation shortage in Dublin 
•Rising rents putting families at risk 
•Rent supplement insufficient 
•Over 160 families in hotels (200 adults & 
350 children) 

P
age 4



P
age 5



P
age 6



P
age 7



Contact for SPC Members 
Laurence Kinch, TPS 
Tel: 01-6353605 

P
age 8



What Threshold does 
 

• Assess urgency of need  
• Intervene to protect tenancy 
• Recommend case for DSP Protocol 
• Refer dispute to PRTB 
• Make referral to tenancy sustainment 
 
 

P
age 9



P
age 10



Photo by giant mice kill rabbits - Creative Commons Attribution License  https://www.flickr.com/photos/40582851@N00 Created with Haiku Deck 

P
age 11



P
age 12



What we’ve learned 
 

• Lack of awareness of rights 
• Economic factors main difficulty 
• Over 75% with 2+ children 
• 75% notices are from landlords ‘selling’ 
• €200-300pm can keep a family in home 
• Mainstream solutions needed 
 
 

P
age 13



Threshold’s policy proposals 
 

 Rent limits increase 
 Greater flexibility 
 Ring-fence savings 
 Payment in advance 
 Rent certainty (‘Rent control’) 
 Outlaw discrimination 
 Expedite HAP 
 Deposit Protection Scheme 

P
age 14



1 

 

Threshold Update on Tenancy Protection Service (TPS)  
 
  

Service Statistics 

 

Calls received:  

16th June 2014 to date               2050 

 

of which 41% are families currently at risk 

 

Families at risk:       857 

 Initial intervention      309 

 Tenancy Protected      200 
of which 138 approved for ITSP Protocol (see below) 

 Dispute cases referred to the PRTB      42 

 Ongoing       306 

  

 

 

TPS Interventions 

 

Initial Intervention  

Upon initial contact clients are immediately assessed as to whether they have an urgent 
case demanding immediate attention or non urgent cases which can be followed up at a 
later date. The client’s details are recorded and a meeting arranged to review all their 
documentation and explain their rights and options. This is the first phase of the TPS 
intervention to save their tenancy. 

 

 

Tenancy Protected  

Where a tenancy is at immediate risk, a member of the TPS will advocate on behalf of the 
client to keep them in their home and protect their tenancy.  

 

A tenancy will be protected by means of: 

 Advocacy with the landlord/agent by the TSP 

 Making an application under the ITSP Protocol with Department of Social Protection 

 

The direct intervention of the TPS in many cases is sufficient to protect a tenancy. For 
example, a client has been given invalid notice of termination and Threshold uses the 

Page 15



2 

 

opportunity to negotiate with the landlord in order to have the threat of notice completely 
withdrawn. Where rent arrears are an issue, the TPS can negotiate a repayment plan with 
the landlord on the tenant’s behalf.   

 

Dispute Cases Referred to PRTB   

Whilst the majority of issues presented by clients are resolved through the intervention of 
the TPS, in 42 (5%) of cases it has been necessary to refer a dispute to the Private 
Residential Tenancies Board (PRTB). Of these cases, 20 are awaiting a hearing, 13 cases have 
been heard and nine cases have been withdrawn.  

 

In cases where a hearing has taken place, just over half (54%) have been in favour of the 
tenant. In four cases relating to rent increases, the landlord subsequently reduced the 
amount sought. By taking a dispute case to the PRTB, the TPS can ensure that a client who 
has received invalid notice of termination is given the correct time to find alternative 
accommodation.  

 

 

Interim Tenancy Sustainment Protocol (ITSP) 

 

Number of cases referred to date:       169 

 

Outcomes: 

 138 approved;  

 3 refusals* 

 5 withdrawn (client or landlord withdraws); 

 1 found alternative accommodation; 

 22 cases currently being reviewed by CWS staff.  

 

*Refusals: 

1. Increase refused as proposed rent greatly exceeded rent limits; 

2. Client disregarded previous DSP instruction that rent was already too high; 

3. Rent supplement payment was already above the limit, and it was considered 
unreasonable to increase payment further. 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Pre-Budget Advisory on  

Rent Supplement 
 

October 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Threshold 
21 Stoneybatter 

Dublin 7 
www.threshold.ie 

 
Page 17



1 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 
1. Executive Summary          2 

1.1. Rent Supplement Advisory Report – Main Findings     2 
1.2. Rent Supplement – Key Recommendations      4 
 

2. Evolution of the Rent Supplement Scheme       5 
2.1. Availability and Affordability of Private Rented Accommodation    5 
2.2. Increased Reliance on the Private Rented Sector      5 
2.3. Increase in Number of Households in Housing Need     6 
2.4. Increased Reliance on Rent Supplement       7 
2.5. Expenditure on the Rent Supplement Scheme      7 
2.6. Increasing Market Rents and Maximum Rent Limits     8 
2.7. Revisions to the Rent Supplement Scheme      9 
2.8. Increased Tenant Contribution        9 
2.9. The Relationship between Maximum Rent Limits and Actual Rents   9

   
3. The Practice of Topping Up         12 

3.1. Threshold’s Surveys on ‘Topping Up’       12 
 

4. Problems in the Administration of Rent Supplement     14 
4.1. Payment in Arrears         14 
4.2. Requirement for Documentation       14 
4.3. Gaps in Coverage - Single People       15 
4.4. Gaps in Coverage – Low-Paid Workers and Separating / Separated Families  15 
4.5. Deposits and Deposit Retention        15 
4.6. Access to Rent Supplement Information       16 
4.7. Centralised Application Processing       16 
4.8. Appeals           16 

 
5. Conclusions and Recommendations        17 
 
Appendix 1: Threshold Rent Supplement Topping Up Survey, June 2014   18 
Appendix 2: The Relationship Between Rents and Maximum Rent Supplement Limits  19
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



2 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 
This advisory report highlights critical problems with the operation of Rent Supplement and makes a 
number of key recommendations to Government for consideration in Budget 2015 and for future 
policy consideration.  
 
Threshold is a national housing charity established in 1978 that provides frontline housing advice, 
advocacy and support services for over 20,000 people with housing problems annually. With one in 
five families in Ireland now living in the private rented sector, the support provided by Threshold’s 
regional advice centres in Dublin, Cork and Galway is in strong demand.  Over 40% of Threshold’s 
clients are dependent on Rent Supplement to cover their rental costs.  The proportion of Threshold’s 
clients at risk of homelessness has more than doubled in the past year and the organisation is 
devoting its service response to the prevention of homelessness.  
 
Rent Supplement is a housing support payment made to people living in private rented 
accommodation who cannot provide for the cost of their accommodation from their own resources. 
Rent Supplement tenants encounter housing disadvantage in terms of access, affordability, quality, 
administrative practices, discrimination, and increased vulnerability to homelessness. The precarious 
position of Rent Supplement tenants is compounded by recent increases in open-market rents. 
Across the country, the shrinking number of properties available to rent has contributed to 
increased rental costs, particularly in urban centres such as Dublin, where demand is high.  
 
Since the economic downturn, Government spending on Rent Supplement has fallen and landlords 
have taken successive cuts in the amount of rent they are paid by tenants. Rent payment levels for 
the scheme are reviewed every 18 months, while rents change much faster than that. There are long 
delays in processing applications for Rent Supplement, and rents are paid in arrears, not in advance 
like the market norm. The system is therefore not fit for purpose. Reform is on the way in the form 
of the new Housing Assistance Payment, but rollout to date has been slow. 
 

1.1 Rent Supplement Advisory Report – Main Findings 
 

 Shortage of affordable rented accommodation 
 

A shortage of affordable rented accommodation is having a disproportionate effect on Rent 
Supplement recipients. For example, recent data1 collected to June 2014 show that rents in Dublin 
are 26% higher now than they were in mid-2011 and are now just 9% below peak 2007 values. There 
were only 2,000 properties available to rent in Dublin city in mid-2014. Rent Supplement tenants are 
being displaced by tenants who can afford to pay more.  
 
Many Rent Supplement tenants are further disadvantaged because of the difficulties they encounter 
in finding landlords who are willing to accept Rent Supplement. Some landlords discriminate against 
Rent Supplement tenants because of their welfare status. As far back as 2002, a joint report by 
Threshold / Comhairle (now the Citizens Information Board) highlighted this practice, and the 
situation has considerably worsened in the intervening period.2 The bias against Rent Supplement 
tenants in favour of working tenants is compounded by landlords’ uncertainty with regard to Rent 
Supplement tenants’ ability to meet housing costs.  
 

 Rent Supplement limits are out of line with market rents 
 

Rent Supplement limits are out of kilter with market rents, especially in urban centres. This makes it 
extremely difficult for Rent Supplement claimants to secure adequate accommodation and to 

                                                           
1 Daft.ie Rental Report Quarter 2 2014: http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report)/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf  
2 Rent Supplement: A social policy report, Comhairle / Threshold, 2002) 

Page 19

http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report)/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf


3 

 

remain in the area in which they have settled.  It has also put Rent Supplement tenants at risk of 
homelessness and it has become a cause of homelessness.  
 
A homelessness prevention protocol for families in Dublin was introduced by the Department of 
Social Protection in mid-June 2014. Under the protocol, maximum Rent Supplement limits may be 
exceeded for a period of 13 weeks (and extended for a further 13 weeks). A Tenancy Protection 
Service operated by Threshold, on behalf of the four Dublin local authorities, has assisted 788 
families at risk of homelessness since June 2014, and 162 families have been recommended for this 
protocol with 121 approved to date. Results from the protocol show that additional rental payments 
of €100 to €200 euro per month can prevent homelessness.  
 

 Struggling to pay housing costs and topping up to avoid homelessness 
 

Rent Supplement tenants face severe difficulties in meeting housing costs. For some, the initial 
payment – a month’s rent in advance and a security deposit – is difficult to accumulate, particularly 
as welfare supports that provide access to deposits are restricted. Most tenants in this position have 
to borrow money from family and friends.  
 
Surveys conducted by Threshold and included in this advisory report shows that, in order to meet 
ongoing rental payments, between 44% and 55% of Rent Supplement clients are making top-up 
payments to landlords. Tenants are required under the Rent Supplement scheme to make a 
contribution from their welfare payment towards their rent; a top-up is an additional payment 
demanded by landlords that breaches the rules of the Rent Supplement scheme and is therefore 
rarely disclosed to the Department of Social Protection.  As a result of making top-up payments, 
Rent Supplement tenants report cutting back on essentials, such as food and heating.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Administration of Rent Supplement is not fit for purpose 
 

The administration of the Rent Supplement scheme is out-dated and does not conform with the 
modern rental market. Rent Supplement payments are made in arrears, rather than in advance, 
which is the norm for the private rented sector, and this makes it unattractive to landlords. It is also 
proving extremely difficult for Rent Supplement tenants to secure rental deposits through the 
Exceptional Needs Payments and they are being forced to borrow money and begin their tenancies 
in debt.  
 
The centralisation of the application process in some parts of the country has led to significant 
delays in the processing of applications. Discretion is a critical aspect of the Rent Supplement 
scheme.  The removal of the one-to-one meeting with Department of Social Protection staff – which 
was standard practice until 2012 – deprives tenants (and their advocates) of an opportunity to 
explain their case and to supply information that affects their payment.   
 

Example of Top-up Payment 
The maximum Rent Supplement limit for a single person in Dublin is €520 per 
month, of which the tenant pays a contribution of €138 per month (or €32 a 
week over 52 weeks) from their welfare payment and the Department of Social 
Protection pays €382 per month. A typical rent demanded by landlords for 
accommodation for a single person is €650 per month, meaning that the tenant 
will be making a top-up payment of €130 per month. This means that a tenant 
who is normally required to pay €32 out of their €188 weekly welfare payment 
towards their rent will actually be paying €62 out of €188 a week, leaving them 
with just €126 to meet all their needs for food, heating and other essentials. 

Page 20



4 

 

1.2 Rent Supplement – Key Recommendations 
 
Threshold recommends that the Government must take the following steps as a priority: 
 

 Increase Rent Supplement limits in a targeted way to take account of the difficulties for Rent 
Supplement recipients in high-demand areas.   
 

 Extend the flexibility available under the current homelessness prevention protocol for 
families in Dublin to single-person households and to other urban centres, including Cork, 
Galway and Limerick.  

 

 Restore the “face-to-face” aspect of the Rent Supplement application process and increase 
flexibility for representatives from the Department of Social Protection to exercise 
discretion. 

 

 Ring-fence budgetary savings made under the Rent Supplement scheme to provide greater 
flexibility for households that face difficulties with retaining or securing accommodation. 

 

 Expedite the introduction of the Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) for long-term recipients 
of Rent Supplement.   

 

 In anticipation of HAP, a pre-approval system for Rent Supplement should be put in place 
and Rent Supplement payments paid in advance rather than in arrears.    
 

 Rent Supplement limits should not be a barrier to people exiting homelessness and the 
provision that currently allows for higher payments should be utilised to positively support 
move-on from homelessness.    

 

 Prioritise social welfare appeals related to Rent Supplement and better utilise the local 
review process to avoid the necessity for appeals.   
 

 Exceptional Needs Payments for rental deposits should be restored. 
 

 A deposit protection scheme should be put in place as an immediate measure to protect 
both the tenant and the State from the loss of deposit monies.  

 

 The Government should consider the introduction of legislation outlawing discrimination 
against Rent Supplement tenants.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



5 

 

2. Evolution of the Rent Supplement Scheme 
 

2.1 Availability and Affordability of Private Rented Accommodation 
 

Ireland is currently experiencing a crisis in the availability and affordability of private rented 
accommodation. The demand for rented properties far exceeds supply and rents have inevitably 
risen, quite dramatically in urban areas and particularly in 2014.3  
 
Renters are finding it increasingly difficult to find a home to rent that they can afford.  The crisis in 
affordability is having an impact on all renters, particularly those on lower incomes.  The group on 
which it is having the greatest impact, however, is people in receipt of Rent Supplement.  In certain 
parts of the country, it is proving virtually impossible for a person in receipt of Rent Supplement to 
find a property to rent that falls under the maximum rent levels for Rent Supplement as laid out by 
the Department of Social Protection.  
 
This is resulting in people becoming homeless, for example, rising rents have been acknowledged as 
a cause of homelessness by the Dublin Region Homeless Executive (DRHE). In September 2014, over 
140 homeless families were accommodated by the DRHE in Dublin hotels as a result of losing their 
rented accommodation. The DHRE has funded Threshold to operate a Tenancy Protection Service to 
prevent families in receipt of Rent Supplement from losing their homes. 
 
The problem of affordability is also an issue in other urban centres. Threshold’s Cork Service 

prevented 125 families from becoming homeless between January and September 2014 and there 

has been a dramatic increase in the number of tenancy terminations cases presenting at Threshold’s 

Galway Service. 

 
There are a number of underlying reasons for this current crisis, which are examined below. 
 

2.2 Increased Reliance on the Private Rented Sector 
 

Changes in Housing Tenure 
Since the 1990s, Ireland’s housing system has undergone a significant transformation. This was 
characterised by escalating housing prices, stimulated by increased demand; the persistent 
contraction of the social housing sector; and the consequent expansion of the private rented sector.  
 
There has been a dramatic increase in the numbers of people living in private rented 
accommodation. Table 2.1 provides a more recent outline of the tenure restructuring that began in 
the 1990s and demonstrates the expanded role of the private rented sector in this regard. Between 
2006 and 2011, the proportion of private rented households increased to 18.5 per cent of all housing 
supply, or 305,377 households, up from 145,317 households in 2006.  
 
Table 2.1: Housing Tenure in Ireland, 2006-2011 

      Tenure 2006 % 2011 % 

Owner-Occupied 1,091,945 74.7 1,149,924 69.7 

Social Housing 155,989 10.7 143,975 8.7 

Private Rented 145,317 9.9 305,377 18.5 

Other 69,045 4.7 50,132 3.1 

Total 1,462,296 100 1,649,408 100 
Source: Adapted from Central Statistics Office, Census data various years 

 

                                                           
3 Daft.ie Rental Report Quarter 2 2014: http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf 

Page 22

http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf


6 

 

The figures also reflect the underdevelopment of social housing during this period. Despite the 
increase in the overall number of households in the country between 2006 and 2011 (12.8%), the 
numbers of households living in social housing fell in both actual and percentage terms (from 10.7% 
to 8.7%).  In 2006, there were approximately the same number of households living in private rented 
and social housing.  By 2011, there were over twice as many households renting as there were in 
social housing. 
 
The reasons behind the increased reliance on the private rented sector in this period are varied, but 
include: shortages in new-build private housing, lack of mortgage finance restricting the purchase of  
houses, and little or no social housing being built, as well as people choosing to rent as a lifestyle 
choice. 
 
Dramatic Fall in Social Housing Provision 
Between 2010 and 2013, the local authority capital budget for housing was reduced by 62%.4 A 
consistent reduction in expenditure on social housing has resulted in a significant deficit in social 
housing provision.  Faced with a substantial increase in the numbers of households with a housing 
need (as demonstrated in Table 2.2 below), the private rented sector has been increasingly turned to 
as an alternative source of social housing. 
 

2.3 Increase in Number of Households in Housing Need 
 
The first three years of the economic downturn saw a significant increase in the number of 
households that were assessed as having a housing need. Between 2008 and 2011 (as demonstrated 
in Table 2.2 below), there was a 74.8% rise in the number of households in need of social housing. By 
2011, 67% of people had a housing need for reasons of being unable to meet the cost of their 
accommodation. The numbers of people sharing involuntarily increased by 72% in this period. 
 
Table 2.2: Housing Need, 2008-2011 

Category of Need 2008 2011 

% Change  2008 to 
2011 

Homeless  1,394 2,348 68.4% 

Travellers 1,317 1,824 38.5% 

Unfit accommodation 1,757 1,708 -2.8% 

Overcrowded accommodation 4,805 4,594 -4.4% 

Involuntary sharing 4,965 8,534 71.9% 

Leaving institutional care 715 538 -24.8% 

Medical or compassionate reasons 8,059 9,548 18.5% 

Older persons 2,499 2,266 -9.3% 

Persons with a disability 1,155 1,315 13.9% 

Not reasonably able to meet the cost of 
accommodation 29,583 65,643 121.9% 

Total 56,249 98,318 74.8% 
Source: Adapted from Housing Agency, Housing Needs Assessment, 2011 

 
More recent figures from the Housing Agency5 show that, by 2013, the number of households in 
housing need had dropped by 9.4% to 89,872. Over half (52% or 46,584 households), were 
dependent on Rent Supplement to meet their current housing costs. 
 

                                                           
4 Irish Council for Social Housing 2013: Social Housing: Newsletter of the Irish Council for Social Housing Spring 2013 
5 Summary of Social Housing Assessments 2013 Key Findings, Housing Agency, Dec 2013 

Page 23



7 

 

2.4 Increased Reliance on Rent Supplement 
 

Increased levels of unemployment during the economic downturn have contributed significantly to 
the increase in the numbers of people with a housing need.  In the absence of sufficient quantities of 
social housing, those with a housing need have been forced to rely on Rent Supplement and the 
private rented sector. 
 
There were 370,050 people signing on the live register in the third quarter of 2014, which equates to 
an unemployment rate of 11.1 per cent6 .  The Department of Social Protection estimates that there 
are currently approximately 78,000 persons on the live register who are claiming Rent Supplement.  
 
When it was first introduced in the 1970s, Rent Supplement was designed to be a short-term 
support for those in housing need.  Now, however, it has become a de facto social housing support 
payment. 
 
The Rental Accommodation Scheme was introduced in 2005 in an attempt to provide long-term 
accommodation for Rent Supplement tenants.  By 2012, a total of 43,210 households had been 
transferred to the scheme from Rent Supplement7. However, overall, the scheme has not had the 
success that was hoped for.   
 
The planned Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) may, at some stage in the future, provide a more 
practical and sustainable solution to meet housing support needs. Under HAP, long-term Rent 
Supplement recipients will become the responsibility of local authorities in recognition of their 
housing need, and rent will be paid directly to landlords rather than to tenants. This should make the 
payment more attractive to landlords.  Furthermore, tenants will have the opportunity to work and 
to continue to receive some help with their housing costs, unlike the current position where Rent 
Supplement is regarded as a ‘poverty trap’.   
 
The HAP is currently limited to pilot schemes in seven local authority areas, so only a small number 
of former Rent Supplement recipients are currently benefiting from the scheme.   
 
The national rollout has been slow to date. It involves the transfer of responsibility for the 
administration of housing support payments from the Department of Social Protection to local 
authorities; harmonisation of local authority rent schemes across the country; and deduction of 
tenant contribution at source. Until such a time as the HAP is introduced in full – and this may take a 
number of years – Rent Supplement will remain the primary form of rental support for 
approximately 75,000 households.  
 

2.5 Expenditure on the Rent Supplement Scheme 
 

Table 2.3 provides a breakdown of data regarding the cost of providing the Rent Supplement 
scheme.  It shows that expenditure on the scheme increased significantly from €179 million in 2001 
to €373 million in 2013. Focusing on the period of the economic downturn, which began in 2008, the 
number of Rent Supplement recipients considerably increased by 24% to 25% in both 2008 and in 
2009, and peaked at 97,000 at the height of the economic downturn in 2010.  
 
By 2013, expenditure had fallen back to €373 million and the number of recipients had decreased by 
17.5% to 80,000. Increased employment opportunities have contributed to the reduction in 
expenditure, but it is also the case that the lack of available accommodation within Rent Supplement 
limits and eligibility restrictions are considered to have played a part in reducing the numbers in 
receipt of Rent Supplement (for example, since May 2009, entitlement is restricted to those who 
have been living in private rented accommodation for at least six months of the last 12 months, or 
who are on the local authority housing list following a full assessment).  

                                                           
6 Central Statistics Office 2014 
7 Housing Statistic, June 2013, Department of Environment, Community and Local Government 

Page 24



8 

 

 
Table 2.3: Recipients and Expenditure on Rent Supplement, 2001-2013 

Year Recipients Annual Change % Expenditure (€m) Annual Change % 

2001 45,028 - 179.438 - 

2002 54,213 20.4 252.203 40.6 

2003 59,976 10.6 331.471 31.4 

2004 57,874 -3.5 353.762 6.7 

2005 60,176 4.0 368.705 4.2 

2006 59,861 -0.5 388.339 5.3 

2007 59,726 -0.2 391.466 0.8 

2008 74,038 24.0 440.548 12.5 

2009 93,030 25.7 510.751 15.9 

2010 97,260 4.5 516.538 1.1 

2011 96,803 -0.5 502.747 -2.7 

2012 87,684 -9.4 422.536 -16 

2013 79,788 -9.0 372,909 -11..8 

 

2.6 Increasing Market Rents and Maximum Rent Limits 
 

Following the economic collapse in 2007, average rents fell quite significantly and bottomed out in 
2010.  Since then, rents have been increasing steadily and remain on an upward trajectory with no 
sign of this trend changing any time soon.  
 
There has been a dramatic increase in rent levels in urban areas in the last number of years.  Annual 
rent inflation in Dublin increased to 15% in mid-2014, and rents nationally were 10.8% higher on 
average in the second quarter of 2014 than in the corresponding period in 20138. 
 
The stock of properties available for rent has also fallen significantly in recent years.  Daft.ie reports 
that just 6,800 rental properties were advertised with the site nationally at the end of quarter two of 
2014, a 40% decline in one year9. 
 
Shortage of supply – coupled with increased demand for rental properties – has resulted in a 
significant increase in rent levels, particularly in urban areas.  This has put rented properties out of 
the reach of many tenants at the lower end of the market, particularly those in receipt of Rent 
Supplement.   The maximum rent levels for Rent Supplement – as laid out by the Department of 
Social Protection – have not kept pace with the increased rent levels being demanded by landlords.  
 
Rising rents are a problem not only for those seeking rented accommodation, but also for those 
already in rented accommodation. Threshold’s advice offices report landlords regularly increasing 
rents by 15% or even 20%.  Given that such increases will invariably push rents over the maximum 
rent levels for Rent Supplement, when faced with such increases, Rent Supplement tenants are left 
with no option but to pay an under-the-counter ‘top up’ (see Section 3.0 of this report) or to leave.  
Finding an alternative property to rent under the maximum rent limits in urban areas is currently 
proving virtually impossible and, in an increasing number of cases, is resulting in individuals and 
families becoming homeless. 
 
In recognition of the increased risk of homelessness amongst families in receipt of Rent Supplement, 
a homelessness prevention protocol for families in the Dublin region was introduced by the 
Department of Social Protection (DSP) on 17th June 2014. Under the protocol, maximum Rent 
Supplement limits may be exceeded in exceptional cases for a period of 13 weeks and this may be 
extended for a further 13 weeks. A Tenancy Protection Service operated by Threshold on behalf of 
the four Dublin local authorities makes referrals to the DSP for approval under the protocol. A total 

                                                           
8 Daft.ie Rental Report, Q2 2014:  http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf 
9 ibid 

Page 25

http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf


9 

 

of 1,980 calls were received by the Tenancy Protection Service helpline between June and end 
September 2014, with 788 families deemed at imminent risk of homelessness. A total of 162 families 
were referred to the DSP to avail of the protocol, with 121 approved at the time of publication.  
 

2.7 Revisions to the Rent Supplement Scheme 
 

Since 2009, the Department of Social Protection has undertaken a series of revisions to the 
operation of the Rent Supplement scheme, which were explicitly intended to encourage landlords to 
reduce their rental prices to new maximum rent limits and to ensure value for money for the 
Exchequer.  
 
Under the Rent Supplement scheme, tenants in receipt of the payment are required to make a 
minimum personal contribution to their rent from their own resources, most often their social 
welfare payment.  However, since 2009, these contributions have increased (further details on these 
increases are included in the following section) and maximum rent limits have been reduced on a 
number of occasions.  These revisions were intended to manage Rent Supplement costs by aligning 
maximum limits to reflect the availability of Rent Supplement housing in each county.  
 
Concerns have been expressed, however, that these revisions have caused undue hardship for 
tenants and led to a rise in the practice of ‘topping up’, (see Section 3.0 of this report). Such is the 
current rate of increase in rents that no sooner are rents limits revised than they are outstripped by 
rising rents. 
 
The most recent review of rent limits, which came into effect in June 2013, did increase rent limits in 
a number of areas but, in the main, there is a significant disparity between actual rents and the 
maximum rent levels.  
 

2.8 Increased Tenant Contribution 
 

In an effort to reduce expenditure on the Rent Supplement scheme, the Department of Social 
Protection has – since 2009 – also increased the minimum tenant contribution on a number of 
occasions. 
 
Table 2.4: Revisions to the Minimum Tenant Contribution (single-person household), 2009-2012 

Minimum tenant contribution 
(single household)10  

Increased from €13 to €18 –effective in January 2009 
 
Increased from €18 to €24 –effective in May 2009 
 
Increased from €24 to €30 –effective in 2012 

 
Between 2009 and 2012, the three upward revisions of the minimum tenant contribution equated to 
increased costs of €5-€6 per week for Rent Supplement recipients, or a €17 per week increase in 
total by 2012.  As the majority of Rent Supplement claimants are likely to be meeting living expenses 
from diminished household incomes, these changes have resulted in claimants encountering 
difficulties in terms of meeting their living and housing costs.  
 

2.9 The Relationship between Maximum Rent Limits and Actual Rents 
 

Under the Rent Supplement Scheme, the rent paid to a landlord (that is, the tenant contribution plus 
the Rent Supplement) should not be above the maximum rent limit set for each individual county or 
area. The most recent review of maximum rent limits came into effect in June 2013.  The review 
recognised that rents are rising around the country, particularly in urban areas, and the limits were 
increased for particular categories of applicants in a number or areas.  

                                                           
10  In Budget 2014, the minimum contribution for couples increased from €35 to €40 

Page 26



10 

 

 
However, the rate of increase in rents is such that, by the time the revised limits were introduced in 
June 2013, the actual rents had already outstripped the increases.   
 
A cursory comparison of maximum rent limits with actual average rents drawn from the PRTB / ESRI 
Rental Price Index shows that there is a significant gap between the two across the country. 
 
Table 2.5: Maximum Rent Levels 2013 v Average Rents 2013, Dublin 

 
      Area: Dublin City 
       (Not Fingal) 
 

Single Couple 
with no 
children 

Couple 1 child or one 
 parent family 1 child 

Couple 2 children 
or one parent 

family 2 children 

Maximum Rent Limit €520 €750 € 950 € 975 

Average Rent, 
Quarter 4 2013 

One Bed One Bed Two Bed Three Bed 

Dublin 1 755 755 1094 1412 

Dublin 3 714 714 1040 1226 

Dublin 6 704 704 1141 1474 

Dublin 7 639 639 971 1143 

Dublin 9 649 649 982 1151 

Dublin 24 761 761 884 983 

Dun Laoghaire  803 803 1167 1418 

 
Table 2.6: Maximum Rent Levels 2013 v Average Rents 2013, Cork City 

 
     Area: Cork City 

 

Single Couple 
with no 
children 

Couple 1 child or one 
parent family 1 child 

Couple 2 children 
or one parent 

family 2 children 

Maximum Rent Limit €485 €575 € 700 € 725 

Average Rent, 
Quarter 4 2013 

One Bed One Bed Two Bed Three Bed 

€592 €592 €782 €849 

 
Table 2.7: Maximum Rent Levels 2013 v Average Rents, Galway City 

 
Area: Galway City 

 

Single Couple 
with no 
children 

Couple 1 child or one 
parent family 1 child 

Couple 2 children 
or one parent 

family 2 children 

Maximum  Rent Limit €475 €540 € 700 € 725 

Average Rent, 
Quarter 4 2013 

One Bed One Bed Two Bed Three Bed 

€593 €593 €755 €849 

 
Further Increases in Rents in 2014 
Since the revised rent limits were introduced in June 2013, rents have risen dramatically across the 
country. No detailed data is currently available from the online PRTB / ESRI Index for 2014, but some 
data from Daft.ie11 demonstrates the rate of increase.  Table 2.8 shows how the gap between 
current maximum rent levels and actual market rents has widened significantly in this time. 
 
Table 2.8: Current Maximum Rent Levels 2014 v Average Rents Q2 - 2014 Dublin (www.daft.ie) 

 
      Area: Dublin City 
       (Not Fingal) 

Single Couple 
with no 
children 

Couple 1 child or one 
 parent family 1 child 

Couple 2 children 
 or one parent  
family 2 children 

Maximum Rent Limit €520 €750 € 950 € 975 

Average Rent, 
Quarter 2  2014 

One Bed One Bed Two Bed Three Bed 

                                                           
11 Daft.ie Rental Report, Q2 2014:  http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf 

Page 27

http://c0.dmstatic.com/596/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q2-2014.pdf


11 

 

(www.daft.ie) 

Dublin 1 1040 1040 1328 1804 

Dublin 3 940 940 1225 1509 

Dublin 6 944 944 1349 1945 

Dublin 7 875 875 1221 1428 

Dublin 9 867 867 1133 1396 

Dublin 24 857 857 1064 1206 

Dun Laoghaire  1052 1052 1422 1843 

 
A detailed examination of the relationship between actual rents and maximum rent limits can be 
found in Appendix 2 of this report.  
 
Over the last 15 years, the impetus to ensure adequate housing for Rent Supplement tenants was 
tempered by a series of budgetary cuts to the Rent Supplement scheme that have incrementally 
reduced maximum rent thresholds and increased minimum tenants’ contributions. Put simply, the 
amount the Government is willing to pay to supplement a claimant’s housing needs, relative to open 
market rents, has been consistently dropping.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



12 

 

3. The Practice of Topping Up 
 
The severe shortage of properties to rent that fall under the maximum rent limits set by the 
Department of Social Protection has resulted in the now wide-scale practice of ‘topping up’, 
whereby tenants in receipt of Rent Supplement pay an under-the-counter payment to their landlord 
in addition to the officially declared rent.    
 
Despite the fact that making such payments can put tenants under significant financial strain, in 
order to secure a place to live, many Rent Supplement recipients are left with no choice other than 
to pay a top-up to their landlord.  
 

3.1 Threshold Surveys on ‘Topping Up’  
 
For example, a survey of 125 Rent Supplement clients carried out by Threshold in Dublin, Cork and 
Galway in January 2014 found that 47% were making top-up payments.  A similar survey of 100 Rent 
Supplement clients carried out between April and June 2012 found that 55% were making top-up 
payments. Two-thirds (67%) of those making extra payments said it affected their spending in other 
areas.   
 
The most recent Threshold survey of 133 clients in receipt of Rent Supplement, conducted in June 
2014, found that 44% (58 people) were making top-up payments to their landlords.  All of those 
paying top-ups said it affected their spending in other areas, including food, heating and clothing. 
34% of respondents who were paying a top-up said that it had resulted in them falling into rent 
arrears.  
 
Figure 3.1 

 
 
Rent Supplement, which is a means-tested payment, is calculated is such a way as to ensure that the 
recipient has a minimum amount of money to live on each week.  This equates to the basic rate of 
Supplementary Welfare Allowance less their personal contribution to their rent.   
 
Tenants who top up their Rent Supplement payments, therefore, are using resources intended to 
meet living costs to pay their rent.  In Threshold’s survey, 74% of tenants who were topping up were 
couples or lone parents with children. 
 
This report has already highlighted the steady increase in personal contributions to rent by Rent 
Supplement recipients since 2012.  For those paying a top-up, disposable household income for the 
bare essentials is diminished even further.  The practice of topping up is driving people into poverty. 
 

Page 29



13 

 

Figure 3.2 

 
 
Further details of Threshold’s survey on the practice of topping up can found in Appendix 1 of this 
report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 30



14 

 

4. Problems in the Administration of Rent Supplement 
 
Responsibility for the administration of the Rent Supplement scheme was transferred from the 
Community Welfare Services Division of the Health Service Executive (HSE) to the Department of 
Social Protection in October 2011.   
 
Recent reforms in the administration of the Rent Supplement scheme have seen a shift towards 
centralising the processing of applications. Department of Social Protection officials no longer deal 
with many Rent Supplement claimants in person and, as a result, they are unable to respond 
immediately to an individual’s circumstances with flexibility. 
 
Many Rent Supplement claimants are frustrated with the administration of the scheme and find the 
application process humiliating and invasive. The problems encountered by claimants are often 
exacerbated by a failure to explain decisions. Clients often seek advice from Threshold as they feel 
the amount of Rent Supplement they are receiving is incorrect. 
 

4.1 Payment in Arrears 
 

At present, Rent Supplement is paid in arrears.  This presents a number of difficulties and is 
acknowledged as a long-standing problem for those in receipt of Rent Supplement12. Threshold 
advocacy staff report that working tenants are more likely to secure private rented dwellings, rather 
than new tenants on Rent Supplement, for this reason. 
 
In addition, landlords who are unfamiliar with the operation of the Rent Supplement scheme may 
believe that delays in the payment of rent, while claims are processed, is the fault of tenants.  They 
sometimes issue a notice of termination of tenancy on that basis. In some cases, landlords have 
retained deposits as compensation for unpaid rents. This is despite the fact that the reason why 
rents were unpaid was administrative delays within the Department of Social Protection.  The loss of 
a rental deposit in such cases makes finding follow-on accommodation for tenants much more 
difficult. 
 
Threshold has also come across many new applicants for Rent Supplement who only receive the 
payment from the date their claim is approved, as opposed to backdating payment to the date of 
their application. This leaves their landlord at a shortfall for the rent accrued while the claim was 
being processed, and places the tenant in arrears of rent, leaving them at risk of having their tenancy 
terminated. 
 

4.2 Requirement for Documentation 
 

The onus placed on tenants to ensure they have all the relevant paperwork required to process a 
Rent Supplement application also results in difficulties. Tenants are required to complete application 
forms for local authorities’ housing sections, Department representatives and landlords. The process 
is time-consuming and laborious, and involves the replication of data across multiple forms.   
 
In many cases, requests for paperwork have not been fully explained to claimants, placing those who 
have already moved into their homes under significant pressure to meet housing costs. In some 
cases, requests are made for documents that are not in the applicant’s power to obtain. However, 
failure to produce relevant documentation can result in refusal of payment, or suspension of 
payment in the case of reviews. 
 

                                                           
12 Threshold  Pre Budget Submission to Department of Social Community and  Family Affairs 2010 

Page 31



15 

 

4.3 Gaps in Coverage - Single People 
 

Threshold has repeatedly raised concerns that a growing number of the organisation’s clients are 
single-person households encountering difficulties accessing housing.  
 
Single people are considered among the most vulnerable to homelessness13. It is estimated that 
between 15% and 20% of the total homeless adult population in Dublin are in the 18-25 age-range.14 
 
Single people on Rent Supplement are often priced out of the market for flats and apartments of an 
appropriate size and standard. For single people in the 18-24 age bracket, this risk is even more 
pronounced as they are in receipt of reduced jobseeker’s allowance.  
 

4.4 Gaps in Coverage – Low-Paid Workers and Separating / Separated Families 
 

Two other groups are not covered by Rent Supplement: 
 

1. Low-income workers, often termed ‘the working poor’, who are not entitled to housing 
income supports do not benefit from Rent Supplement15.  

2. The second group not covered by Rent Supplement involves separating / separated families, 
where there are joint custody arrangements. In these cases, Rent Supplement for the 
appropriate family size is typically granted to one parent only, with the other receiving 
payment for a single-person household. The accommodation that can be obtained within 
the Rent Supplement limit for single people is unsuited to family living and, therefore, likely 
to undermine access arrangements and family relationships.  
 

4.5 Deposits and Deposit Retention 
 

Threshold estimates that the typical start-up costs required to secure a tenancy are approximately 
€1,000. In general terms, this is a significant initial outlay but, for those living on diminished income 
and requiring Rent Supplement payments, the financial burden is clearly excessive.  
 
It is possible in theory for Rent Supplement tenants to obtain the money for a deposit under the 
discretionary Exceptional Needs Payment, administered by the Department of Social Protection, but 
this is becoming increasingly rare.  For those without these monies, the most common means of 
meeting start-up costs is to borrow money from family / friends, which means commencing a 
tenancy with a significant debt.  
 
Another key issue in respect of start-up costs is the persistent problem of illegal deposit retention, 
whereby a landlord fails to return a tenant’s deposit at the end of a tenancy, despite not having valid 
grounds to do so. In fact, the most common problem faced by Threshold clients is the non-return of 
rental deposits16.  
 
The highest proportion (39%) of dispute applications to the Private Residential Tenancies Board 
(PRTB) also relates to deposit retention17. The problem has prompted Government to state that the 
introduction of a deposit protection scheme would be a priority for 201418. 
 

                                                           
13 Threshold Pre-Budget Submission 2013 to the Department of Social Protection, 28th September 2012. 
14 Findings of a longitudinal study on Young People’s Housing and Homeless Pathways, 2013 
15 The difficulties encountered by the ‘working poor’ are generally widely acknowledged and have been recognised in 
policy terms by the proposed introduction of the Housing Assistance Payment. 
16 Threshold Annual Report 2012, Threshold Annual Report 2011 
17 Private Residential Tenancies Board Annual Report 2012 
18 Press Release: O’Sullivan Secures Cabinet Support for Major Innovation in Landlord Tenant System 21/01/14  
http://www.environ.ie/en/DevelopmentHousing/Housing/PrivateRentedHousing/News/MainBody,34530,en.htm  
 

Page 32

http://www.environ.ie/en/DevelopmentHousing/Housing/PrivateRentedHousing/News/MainBody,34530,en.htm


16 

 

Threshold staff report that, while this problem can be encountered in the private rented sector 
generally, Rent Supplement tenants are the most adversely affected by illegal deposit retention. As 
all tenants changing address are required to bring their deposit with them as security for their new 
landlord, unjustified retention of deposits of Rent Supplement claimants can result in increased 
exposure to exploitation in the private rented market and places them at risk of homelessness.  
 

4.6 Access to Rent Supplement Information 
 

The advisory role provided by Threshold’s staff is often impaired by a lack of clarity and consistency 
with regard to how the rules and regulations surrounding the Rent Supplement scheme are 
implemented.  For example, the documentation required to validate a claim can vary widely. 
Decision-making with respect to the Rent Supplement scheme is not always transparent or 
consistent. This makes it difficult to advise clients on the likely outcome of their application.  
 

4.7  Centralised Application Processing 
 

A recent key change in the Rent Supplement Scheme has been the centralisation of the processing 
system, intended to introduce greater efficiency within an environment of rising expenditure.  
 
At present, Central Rent Units (CRUs) cover certain areas of the country, including Dublin 15, Dublin 
24, parts of Dublin city, Cavan, Monaghan, Wicklow, Waterford and Kildare, and operate on the basis 
that Rent Supplement claimants gather together all the required documentation and post it to the 
relevant CRU. It is acknowledged that the centralisation of Rent Supplement processing is intended 
to achieve efficiencies, thus cutting costs and providing a more streamlined service. However, a 
number of concerns have been raised: 
 

1. Threshold staff and clients report difficulties making contact with CRUs, while many clients 
complain of lengthy delays when waiting for a decision on their application. 

2. Clients repeatedly report to Threshold that payments are suspended / terminated without 
any prior notice.  Clients still continue to receive verbal refusals of payment without any 
formal written decision, making an appeal very difficult.   

 
Overall, many Rent Supplement claimants accessing support from Threshold are dissatisfied with 
the operation of CRUs, particularly those who require supports to complete their application (for 
example, those with literacy problems or migrants who do not speak English). 
 

4.8 Appeals 
 

In cases where an application for Rent Supplement has been denied, claimants are entitled to appeal 
this decision. Evidence suggests that a high proportion of first-instance decisions are overturned at 
the appeals stage. In 2012, of 5,323 appeals finalised in relation to the Supplementary Welfare 
Allowance (under which Rent Supplement falls), some 37.3% were either allowed in full or in part, or 
resolved by way of a revised decision.19  
 
Threshold has assisted many tenants through this process and notes how the operation of the 
system places this group in a vulnerable housing position. Rent Supplement is not paid while a 
dispute is under consideration, and many appellants become dependent on charity or family and 
friends to meet housing costs as a result. For some, their tenancy is put at risk, as some landlords 
who are uncertain of a positive tenant outcome issue a tenancy termination notice. 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
19 Social Welfare Appeals Office Annual Report 2012 

Page 33



17 

 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
The purpose of the Rent Supplement scheme is to ensure that those who cannot provide for their 
accommodation from their own resources are afforded financial support from the State to secure 
private rented accommodation. It is a crucial social support that ensures that the vulnerable in 
society can secure a place to live and avoid falling into homelessness.  
 
Since the economic downturn, a variety of factors – including a significant fall in social housing 
provision, increased reliance on the private rented sector, increased levels of unemployment and an 
increase in the number of people in social housing need – have led to an increased reliance on Rent 
Supplement.  
 
However, as this report has examined in some detail, the Rent Supplement scheme is failing to 
protect many households who rely on State support for their rental costs: 
 

 There is a growing shortage of affordable rented accommodation in urban areas, and this 
has reached crisis proportions in Dublin, Cork and Galway.  

 Rent supplement limits are completely out of line with market rents in many areas. 

 Tenants are struggling to meet rental costs, making top-up payments and being priced out of 
their accommodation. 

 The administration of Rent Supplement fails to respond to pressures on tenants (and 
landlords) in the modern rented market and is not fit for purpose.   
 

Key Recommendations 
In order to address these problems, Threshold recommends that the Government must take the 
following steps: 
 

 Increase Rent Supplement limits in a targeted way to take account of the difficulties for Rent 
Supplement recipients in high-demand areas.   

 Extend the flexibility available under the current homelessness prevention protocol for 
families in Dublin to single-person households and to other urban centres, including Cork, 
Galway and Limerick.  

 Restore the “face-to-face” aspect of the Rent Supplement application process and increase 
flexibility for representatives from the Department of Social Protection to exercise 
discretion. 

 Ring-fence budgetary savings made under the Rent Supplement scheme to provide greater 
flexibility for households that face difficulties with retaining or securing accommodation. 

 Expedite the introduction of the Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) for long-term recipients 
of Rent Supplement.   

 In anticipation of HAP, a pre-approval system for Rent Supplement should be put in place 
and Rent Supplement payments paid in advance rather than in arrears.    

 Rent Supplement limits should not be a barrier to people exiting homelessness, and the 
provision that currently allows for higher payments should be utilised to positively support 
move-on from homelessness.    

 Prioritise social welfare appeals related to Rent Supplement and better utilise the local 
review process to avoid the necessity for appeals.   

 Exceptional Needs Payments for rental deposits should be restored. 

 A deposit protection scheme should put in place as an immediate measure to protect both 
the tenant and the State from the loss of deposit monies.  

 Consider the introduction of legislation to make it illegal to discriminate against Rent 
Supplement tenants.  

 
 
 

Page 34



18 

 

 

Appendix 1: Threshold Rent Supplement Top-Up Survey, June 2014 
 
Threshold conducted a survey in June 2014 of clients in receipt of Rent Supplement that had 
contacted Threshold in 2014 to measure: 
 

 If they were paying ‘top up’ to their landlords and, if so, 

 The effect that this had on their spending in other areas of their lives. 
 

133 Rent Supplement recipients were surveyed, having been randomly selected.  
 
For 94% of those in receipt of Rent Supplement, a social welfare payment was their main source of 
income, the breakdown of which is shown below. 

 
Figure 1 

     Household Makeup 

 
 

 
Figure 2 
 

 
 

Respondents were asked if they paid more to their landlord than was declared on their Rent 
Supplement form.  44% of respondents (n=58) said that were ‘topping up’. 
 

Figure 3 

 
 

All respondents who were topping up, said it had an effect on their spending in other areas of 
their lives. The breakdown of these areas is shown below. 
 

Figure 4 

 
 

Page 35



19 

 

 
 

Appendix 2: The Relationship Between Rents and Maximum Rent 
Supplement Limits 
 
Revised Maximum Rent Limits for Rent Supplement 2013 
On the 5th June 2012, the Minister for Social Protection, Joan Burton, announced the implementation of 
revised rent limits under the Rent Supplement Scheme, effective from the 17th June 2013 until 31st December 
2014. This review benefited from analysis drawn from the PRTB/ESRI Rental Price Index that was unavailable in 
2011 and also utilised publicly available data including the Central Statistics Office Rental Indices and the 
Daft.ie Rental Report.  
 
As a result of an increase in the overall volume of persons renting property, the market share for Rent 
Supplement decreased from 40 per cent to 30 per cent. Therefore, the rent limit review for 2013 set 
maximum rent limits generally at the 35th percentile to reflect this change20. However it is clear from 
comparisons between maximum rent level and market rents below that much family accommodation in 
particular is not available in this segment of the market.   
 
Table 1 Revision to the Maximum Rent Limits 2011-2013 

       County  Single 
Couple with no 
Children 

Couple 1 child 
or one parent 
family 1 child 

Couple 2 
children or one 
parent family 2 
children 

Dublin (Fingal) old € 475 €650 € 775 € 825 

 new € 520 €700 € 850 € 900 

Dublin (other) old €475 €700 €875 €925 

 new €520 €750 €950 €975 

Cork old € 450 €575 € 700 € 715 

 new € 485 €575 € 700 € 725 

Galway old € 450   €540 € 680 € 700 

 new € 475 €540 € 700 € 725 

Limerick old € 390 €430 € 500 € 575 

 new € 375 €400 € 500 € 550 

Waterford old € 390 €400 € 500 € 540 

 new € 375 €390 € 475 € 500 

 
The data presented in Table 1 outlines the changes made to the rent limits as a result of the Rent Limits 
Review (2013) undertaken by the Department of Social Protection, compared to the maximum rent limits set 
out in the Department’s 2011 review. Table 1 reveals that the new rent limits show increases in Dublin, Cork 
and Galway, while in Waterford and Limerick rent limits are reduced. In a limited number of cases, such as 
families with one child living in Cork, the rent limits remain unchanged since 2011. This variation reflects the 
Department of Social Protection’s commitment to provide a comprehensive review that included efforts to 
provide a rural/urban analysis relative to the mix of type and size of available dwellings in each county.   
 
In order to assess if the revised rent limits are realistic when compared to market rents, what follows is an 
examination of rent levels and corresponding maximum rent limits in Dublin, Waterford, Limerick, Cork and 
Galway. In this section, data for 2013, which is the most up to date available, from the PRTB/ESRI21 is utilised22.  
For the purposes of this study, the rents charged for one, two and three-bedroom dwellings are set against the 
most relevant categories of household composition, as designated in the Department of Social Protection’s 
Rent Limit Review Report (2011) and as follows: 

                                                           
20 This review set the Rent Supplement maximum rates generally at the 35th percentile of availability – i.e. to ensure that 
35% of the relevant market is suitably priced for Rent Supplement recipients. 
21 The PRTB/ESRI disaggregates Dublin data by postcode area and this facilitates the selection of areas known to contain a 
high proportion of Rent Supplement claimants.  In Waterford, Limerick, Cork and Galway the breakdown of average rents is 
provided at City and County levels.  

22 See Section Two for description. 

Page 36



20 

 

 The one-bed average rental price is benchmarked against the single person’s maximum rent limit rate 
(not sharing)23. 

 The two-bed accommodation average rental price is benchmarked against Couple/One Parent Family 
plus one child category. 

 The three-bed average rental price is benchmarked against the Couple/One Parent Family plus two 
children category. 

 

Note:  Data from the PRTB/ESRI Rent Index show rent levels that are significantly lower than rent levels 
recorded by other sources such as property website www.daft.ie.  
 
To illustrate this point, the table below compares the average rents for one bed properties in 2013 in different 
parts of Dublin as recorded by the PRTB/ESRI Rent Index24 and by www.daft.ie25  

 

One Bed - 2013 PRTB/ESRI Rent Index www.daft.ie 

Dublin 1 755 969 

Dublin 3 714 851 

Dublin 6 704 882 

Dublin 9 716 835 

Dublin 24 761 799 

 

There are a number of possible explanations for this including the fact that PRTB/ESRI data is historical and by 
definition ‘top up’ will not be recorded in any officially declared rent. The examination below shows that the 
majority of rents recorded by the PRTB/ESRI Rent Index in 2013, which it can be argued are significantly lower 
than true market rents, do not fall under Maximum Rent Levels for Rent Supplement. Significant rent increases 
across the country in 2014 have widened the gap further, meaning that fewer properties still now fall within 
the limits. 
 

 

Rents and Maximum Rent Limits in Dublin 
 

Table 2 Rents in Dublin by Size of Dwelling, 2008-2013 

 
One-bed Two-bed Three-bed 

2008 1004 1263 1362 

2009 908 1139 1251 

2010 794 1004 1134 

2011 765 970 1105 

2012 765 988 1108 

2013 783 1016 1129 

Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 
 
Table 2 shows the average rent charged for one to three-bed private rented housing between 2008 and 2013 
in Dublin. It reveals that regardless of dwelling size, rents fell dramatically between 2008 and 2011. Rents 
stabilised from 2011, with an average 2% rise in rents evident between 2012 and 2013. By the end of 2013, 
Table 2 also reveals that compared to 2008, rents were down by 22% for one-bed dwellings, by 19% for two-
bed dwellings and by 17% for three-bed dwellings. 
 
Increasingly Difficult for Families to Find Accommodation under Rent Supplement 
An emerging trend in recent years is the increased difficulties that families in receipt of Rent Supplement have 
faced in securing properties to rent under the payment.  
 

                                                           
23 The PRTB/ESRI rental index does not include a ‘sharing’ variable. However, interviews conducted for this study show that 
Rent Supplement claimants encounter difficulties finding accommodation within single person/couple in shared 
accommodation rent limits set down by the Department of Social Protection. 
24 PRTB/ESRI rental Index data, sourced August 2014 
25 Daft.ie Rental Report Quarter 4 2013: https://c0.dmstatic.com/597/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q4-2013.pdf  

Page 37

http://www.daft.ie/
http://www.daft.ie/
http://www.daft.ie/
https://c0.dmstatic.com/597/report/Daft-Rental-Report-Q4-2013.pdf


21 

 

Historically, it has been challenging for single people to secure accommodation under Rent Supplement.  This 
was due to an undersupply of one bed accommodation across the country and also the fact that single people 
are in direct competition with couples for one bed properties. 
 
However, families are now facing similar difficulties.  The shortage of new build and social housing is resulting 
in families renting in the private sector for longer which is increasing demand and driving up rents.  This in turn 
has put the average three bed property out of the reach of Rent Supplement recipients in many parts of the 
country. 
 
This trend is particularly marked in Dublin and has directly resulted in families becoming homeless and ending 
up in hotel accommodation.  
 
Table 3 Three-bedroom Rent and Rent Limits in Selected Dublin Postcode Areas, by Type of Dwelling, 2013 

Maximum Rent Limits for       
Three-bed  
Dublin Not Fingal - €975 
Dublin 15 - €900 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Semi-
detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Terrace 
house 

Actual 
Average Rent- 
Apartment 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Other 
flats 

Dublin 1 - - - 1471 - 

Dublin 3 - 1262 1135 1384 - 

Dublin 6 - 1530 1510 1460 1209 

Dublin 7 - 1116 1080 1322 - 

Dublin 8 - 1183 1187 1344 - 

Dublin 9 - 1119 1151 1221 - 

Dublin 11 - 1014 982 1027 - 

Dublin 15 1232 999 997 1056 - 

Dublin 22 - 941 921 1001 - 

Dublin 24 1063 986 964 1010 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
The asking prices for three-bedroom rental properties are set out in Table 3. This Table indicates that 
maximum rent limits intended to facilitate couples/one parent families with two children to access Rent 
Supplement housing are distinctly misaligned with the market. For instance, this is particularly the case in 
Dublin 6, where the mean asking price for three-bedroom semi-detached housing is some €555 above the 
€975 rent limit. The figures in Table 3 indicate that only a very limited supply of terraced housing in Dublin 22 
and 24 have registered asking prices below the maximum rent limits. 
 
Threshold suggests the prevalence of properties for rent with asking prices above the maximum rent limits for 
two and three-bedroom dwellings reflects an increase in demand among couples who traditionally would have 
bought homes but cannot do so for a variety of reasons including lower incomes, lack of access to credit and 
uncertainty about their futures. 
 
The figures presented in Tables 3 and 4 also bring into focus the needs of parents with shared custody of 
children who, Threshold reports, often require housing of this size, but are often assessed as single person 
households because their children do not reside with them on a full-time basis, or because custody 
arrangements are not formally documented. 
 

Page 38



22 

 

Table 4 Two-bedroom Rent and Rent Limits in Selected Dublin Postcode Areas, by Type of Dwelling, 2013 

Maximum Rent Limit for       Two-
bed 
Dublin (Not Fingal) - €950 
Dublin 15 (Fingal) - €850 

Actual 
Average 
Rent 
Detached 
house 

Actual  
Average 
Rent Semi-
detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent Terrace 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent 
Apartment 

Actual 
Average 
Rent 
Other 
flats 

Dublin 1 - - 977 1125 757 

Dublin 3 - 1012 961 1088 775 

Dublin 6 - 1192 1257 1217 878 

Dublin 7 - 967 957 1012 734 

Dublin 8 - 1053 1029 969 767 

Dublin 9 - 980 993 990 776 

Dublin 11 - 897 904 890 - 

Dublin 15 - 909 888 944 - 

Dublin 22 - - 877 838 - 

Dublin 24 - 902 896 882 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 4 shows the mean rents for two-bedroom accommodation in the selected Dublin postcode areas and 
reveals that the 2013 rent limit revisions provide couples/one parent families with one child with more 
housing options than their single person counterparts. However, in terms of location the distribution of two-
bed housing within the rent limits is uneven. For instance, in Dublin 1, only properties in the ‘Other flats’ 
category with an average asking price of €757 fall within the limits, while in Dublin 24, the rents for semi-
detached, terraced and apartment housing types fall within limits. These figures are in line with Threshold’s 
view that the higher Rent Supplement payments granted to claimants with one child makes it more likely for 
these households to access private rented housing compared to single person households. 
 
Table 5: One-bedroom Rents and Rent Limits in Selected Dublin Postcode Areas, by Type of Dwelling, 2013 

Maximum Rent Limits for One-bed: 
Single person= €520 
Couple = €750 (€700 Fingal) 

Actual Rent 
One bed 
Terrace house 

Actual Rent 
One bed 
Apartment 

Actual Rent 
One bed 
Other flats 

Dublin 1 0 835 561 

Dublin 3 668 850 553 

Dublin 6 819 920 607 

Dublin 7 673 779 528 

Dublin 8 800 838 558 

Dublin 9 0 759 507 

Dublin 11 0 759 604 

Dublin 15 - 800 - 

Dublin 22 - - - 

Dublin 24 - 762 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 5 compares the average rents for one-bed accommodation in the selected Dublin postcode areas. In 
each area, the average asking price for rents significantly exceeds the rent limit, currently set at the single 
person limit of €520. In practice this means claimants are consigned to a very limited supply of housing under 
the ‘Other flats’ category. From the evidence gathered for this study, it is evident that this type of housing is 
predominately low quality and poorly maintained studios and small flats, where top-up payments often 
constitute part of the rent.  

 
It could be argued, that in some cases, one-bed accommodation could be benchmarked against the maximum 
rent level rate set at €700 for couples (without children) living within Fingal and at €750 for those living 
elsewhere in Dublin. Using this approach the data in Table 5 show that rents in the Fingal area i.e. Dublin 15, 
for the purposes of this study, are above the rent limit, while for claimants living in other areas of Dublin, 
housing options improve. Using this benchmarking approach to the availability of Rent Supplement dwellings 
suggests couples/two person households (without children) should have access to terraced housing in Dublin 
7, to apartments in Dublin 11, and to all dwellings types that fall under the ‘Other flats’ category in Dublin 1, 3, 

Page 39



23 

 

6, 7, 8, 9 and 11. In other words, most of the one-bed accommodation available at this couples’ rent limit rate 
comprises studios and small flats. 
 
In the period immediately after rent limit reductions in 2012, housing and information support workers 
reported an increase in queries related to the difficulties single people in Dublin encountered when attempting 
to find one-bed accommodation under the revised limits. Also, during this period Threshold reported a 
significant decline in the supply of rental housing available to their homeless clients with asking prices below 
the maximum rent level set at the single rate effective in 2012. For these reasons, benchmarking one-bed 
accommodation against the couple rent limit set for 2013 is questionable, as single persons are the most likely 
household type to generate demand for Rent Supplement properties of this size.  
 
Rent and Maximum Rent Limits in Cork, Galway, Waterford and Limerick Cork 
 
Table 6 Rents in Cork by Size of Dwelling, 2008-2013 

 One-bed Two-bed Three-bed 

2008 660 869 914 

2009 629 808 851 

2010 581 732 781 

2011 542 694 748 

2012 538 689 737 

2013 555 707 746 

Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 
 
Table 6 demonstrates that in broad terms, the trends in rents witnessed in Dublin for two-bed properties 
during the period 2008-2013 are mirrored in the case of Cork. However, during this period, the reduction in 
rents in Cork occur most significantly for three-bed properties, dropping by some 18 per cent during this 
period, while the rents for one-bed properties dropped by 16%. This Table also shows that between 2012 and 
2013 rents increased by 3% for one and two-bed dwellings and by 1% for three-bed dwellings. 
 
Table 7 Rents and Rent Limits in Cork City and County, by Size of Dwelling and Type of Housing, 2013 

Maximum Rent Limits 
One-bed Rent Limit- €485 
Two-bed Rent Limit - €700 
Three-bed Rent Limit - €725 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Semi-
detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Terrace 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Apartment 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Other 
flats 

Cork City  One -bed - - 558 639 478 

 Two –bed 705 719 701 821 594 

 Three-bed 774 811 810 984 - 

Cork County One –bed 504 563 540 591 460 

 Two –bed 583 655 661 743 543 

 Three- bed 677 725 736 909 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 7 outlines the average market rents in Cork City and County areas, allowing comparison with the 
maximum rent limit thresholds for a range of housing types and sizes. The data in this Table indicate that most 
Rent Supplement claimants who wish to live in the Cork City area encounter difficulties accessing housing. 
With the exception of two-bed flats, rents for all other housing types are above the corresponding rent limits.  
 
The data in Table 7 also show that when the aggregate rents for Cork County as a whole are considered, the 
possibility of finding Rent Supplement accommodation within rent limits improves somewhat. For instance, 
the vast majority of rents for two-bed housing, located in Cork County, fall within the rent limits. Otherwise, 
access to Rent Supplement housing is limited to one-bed flats and three-bed detached houses. 
 

Page 40



24 

 

Galway 
 
Table 8: Rents in Galway by Size of Dwelling, 2008-2013 

 One-bed Two-bed Three-bed 

2008 600 797 869 

2009 581 749 804 

2010 552 704 754 

2011 541 690 784 

2012 541 696 753 

2013 543 701 760 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 8 charts the decline in rents in Galway between 2008 and 2013. The data show that rents for one-bed 
dwellings fell by 9.5%, with a decrease in two-bed rents of 14% and a 27% decrease in rents for three-bed 
housing. Table 8 also shows that rents in Galway fell most significantly between 2008-2011, with an average 
increase of 2% by the end of 2013, which equates to a 1% increase in one-bed rents and a 3% increase in rents 
for both two and three-bed dwellings. 
 
Table 9: Rents and Rent Limits in Galway City and County, by Size of Dwelling and Type of Housing, 2013. 

Maximum Rent Limits 
One-bed Rent Limit- €475 
Two-bed Rent Limit - €700 
Three-bed Rent Limit - €725 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- Semi-
detached 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Terrace 
house 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Apartment 

Actual 
Average 
Rent- 
Other 
flats 

 Galway  City  One-bed - - - 608 648 

 Two-bed 578 694 745 761 663 

 Three-bed 722 790 818 950 - 

Galway County  One-bed - 461 - 566 467 

 Two-bed 504 594 660 722 565 

 Three-bed 609 723 743 874 904 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014 
 

Table 9 demonstrates that Rent Supplement claimants have very limited housing options in Galway City. For 
instance, only two-bed semi-detached housing, with an average rent of €694, and three-bed detached 
housing, with an average rent of €722, are below the rent limits. When rent levels in Galway are considered at 
the county level, the figures presented in Table 9 show that the rents for one-bed flats, all types of two-bed 
houses and three-bed detached houses are below the rent limits. 
 
Waterford 
 
Table 10: Rents in Waterford by Size of Dwelling, 2008-2013 

 One-bed Two-bed Three-bed 

2008 541 636 767 

2009 513 602 704 

2010 480 541 616 

2011 458 518 579 

2012 435 506 582 

2013 412 493 570 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 10 details the changes in rents in Waterford between 2008 and 2013. It shows that since 2008, rents in 
Waterford have consistently declined. The data show a drop of 23% in rents for one and two-bed 
accommodation, with rents for three-bed accommodation falling by 26%. Further, Table 10 also reveals that by 
the end of 2013 rents in Waterford continued to fall, which indicates there is less demand for private rented 
housing in Waterford than in the other areas examined in this study, where recent rent increases are evident. 
 

Page 41



25 

 

Table 11: Rents and Rent Limits in Waterford City and County, by Size of Dwelling and Type of Housing, 2013. 

Maximum Rent Limits  
One-bed Rent Limit - €375 
Two-bed Rent Limit - €475           
Three-bed Rent Limit - €500 

Detached 
house 

Semi- 
detached 
house 

Terrace 
house Apartment 

Other 
flats 

Waterford City  One-bed    428 364 

 Two-bed - 492 507 499 - 

 Three-bed 660 647 589 475 - 

Waterford County  One-bed   410 423 364 

 Two-bed 487 475 500 496 425 

 Three-bed 580 624 575 473 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 
 

Table 11 provides an overview of the rents charged in Waterford. It shows that the majority of rents are above 
the rent limits, despite the observed decline in average rents across the County. In Waterford City, properties 
within the rent limits are confined to one-bed small flats and studios that fall under the ‘Other flats’ category. 
In addition, the figures presented in Table 11 detail the rental rates for Waterford County as a whole and 
reveal a shortage of Rent Supplement housing generally, where only one-bed flats, two-bed detached houses 
and three-bed apartments rents fall within the rent limits.  
 
Limerick 
 
Table 12: Rents in Limerick by Size of Dwelling, 2008-2013 

 One-bed Two-bed Three-bed 

2008 546 734 734 

2009 527 681 723 

2010 495 610 658 

2011 472 572 636 

2012 444 561 637 

2013 437 568 643 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
At this juncture in the examination it is evident that the predominant trend in rent levels between 2008 and 
2013 is characterised by reductions in rental price points until rent stabilisation from 2011 onwards, with an 
indication of rent increases across all dwelling types by the end of 2013. The data in Table 12 demonstrate that 
by the end of 2013 the rental price points in Limerick conform to this pattern, with the exception of one-bed 
dwellings where rents continued to drop.  
 
Table 13: Rents and Rent Limits in Limerick City and County, by Size of Dwelling and Type of Housing, 2013 

One-bed Rent Limit - €390 
Two-bed Rent Limit - €500 
Three-bed - €575 

Detached 
house 

Semi 
detached 
house 

Terrace 
house Apartment 

Other 
flats 

Limerick City  One-bed - - - 459 363 

 Two-bed  541 534 574 490 

 Three-bed 622 651 619 709 - 

Limerick County  One-bed - - - 458 364 

 Two-bed 521 514 537 578 479 

 Three-bed 562 637 620 691 - 
Source: Adapted from the Private Residential Tenancies Board Rent Index, August 2014. 

 
Table 13 points to the severe housing disadvantage faced claimants living in Limerick City and County. It shows 
that in Limerick City and irrespective of size or type of dwelling, asking prices are above the rent limits. One 
exception is the rent levied on one-bed housing under the ‘Other flats’ category, where rents average €363 
and are below the €390 rent limit. At County level, the data in this Table also indicate a limited supply of 
housing available to Rent Supplement claimants, who are restricted to one or two-bed flats, where rents are 
charged at €364 and €479 respectively. Otherwise, the data show a significant differential between rents 
priced above maximum rent limits set for 2013.  

 

Page 42



‘Report on Housing Construction Collaboration’ 

   

Presentation to Dublin City Council Housing Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Dick Brady, Assistant Chief Executive, Housing & Residential -  16 October 2014 

P
age 43



Presentation Overview 

1. Background and Context 

– Housing Need and the Challenges 

2. Strategic Objectives -  What are we trying to 

achieve? 

3. Call for Expressions of Interest 

4. Proposed Sites 

5. Process and Timelines 

6. What do we Get? 

 

P
age 44



1. Context -  Housing Need and the Challenges 

 
Background and Context  - The Challenges 

– Report No. 225/2014 was tabled before DCCs Elected Members on 

July 7th .The report sought expressions of interest to design, build, 

finance and provide for housing management solutions for a mix of 

housing types and tenures using council land 

– Elected Members requested that the Housing SPC consider today 

– Dublin faces significant challenges in the context of Housing: 

– Acute Housing Supply Shortages in Dublin with just 1,360 homes completed 

in the region in 2013 

– Since 2008, DCC has very limited access to Capital to meet current housing 

demand 

– Growing homelessness problem – end qtr 2 data on emergency placements 
• 1,598 unique adults in Pathway to Home emergency accommodation in Dublin 

(including hotels) 

• Of these, 294 are families (comprising 387 adults and 640 dependent children) 

• Commercial hotels: 164 families (209 adults and 351 dependent children) 

- House Price Inflation 

- Mortgage repossessions/ receiverships 

- Insecure and Unreliable Private Rental Market 

 

 

P
age 45



Construction  

2020  

 

IMPORTANT POLICY CONTEXT 

– overarching strategy re. 

planning, construction, 

property and housing 
1. Creating a strong and sustainable 

construction sector 

2. Producing new jobs and getting construction 

workers back to work – the plan is 60,000 by 

2020 

3. Creating sustainable planning and 

communities 

4. Dampening down the cyclical nature of 

property development 

 

Note: New Housing Strategy Forthcoming 

 

 

A Strategy for a Renewed 

Construction Sector  

May 2014  

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



2. Strategic Objectives -  What are we trying to achieve? 

 

 – There is need to secure, Accessible, Affordable and 

Quality Homes based on a ‘Financially Sustainable 

Model’ (e.g. Public Housing) 

– Give the Public a choice  

– Support sustainable communities  

– Deliver large scale mixed tenure housing developments 

– Attract significant large scale inward capital investment 

– Financed ‘off state balance sheet’ 

– Using consortium lead approach which requires the 

following competencies - ‘finance’, ‘development’ and 

‘housing management’ 

P
age 47



3. Call for Expressions of Interest 

 

 – DCC seeks expressions of interest from parties for the development of City 
Council sites 

– Expression of Interest inviting consortium-lead submissions offering a ‘total 
housing package’ -  funding model inclusive of mixed tenure (i.e. social 
and private rental and have a ‘30 year plus’ long-term view) 

– Consortia must have the following entities on board 

– Institutional Investor ……provides the funding on the basis of a secure investor 

yield. Long-term lease back arrangement can be put in place over a 30 year 

period 

– Developer/ Builder (Builds Public Housing for an Agreed Price 

– Housing Management (Manages the Scheme / Tenants for a fixed duration) 

– Residential elements must be high quality development of mixed 

tenure of various housing unit types and sizes, reflecting density 

needs and restrictions of the location 

– Sites must be developed in accordance with City Council 

Development Plan 2011 – 2017 and must comply with Planning 

and Building Regulations 

 

 

 

 

P
age 48



4. Proposed sites 

 

Name and Location 

of Lands 

Approx. Size Potential Units 

Lands at Malahide 

Road & N32, Dublin 17 

6.3 Ha 300 

Bunratty Road, Dublin 

17 

0.47 Ha 30 

Cherry Orchard 

Hospital Lands, Dublin 

20 

8.2 Ha 400 

Oscar Traynor Road 

junction M1 
14.9 Ha 700 

Cornamona Court, 

Ballyfermot, Dublin 10 

0.7 Ha 30 

Potential Total Units: 1,460 

P
age 49



Belcamp Lane Site at N32 & Malahide Road 

 

P
age 50



Bunratty Road 

 

P
age 51



Cherry Orchard Hospital Lands, Dublin 20  

P
age 52



Oscar Traynor Road junction M1  

P
age 53



Cornamona Court, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10  

P
age 54



5. Process and Timelines 

 

– 16th October -  consideration by Housing SPC 

– 3rd November -  consideration by Dublin City Council 

Elected Members 

– 4th November – commence expressions of interest 

process (publicly advertised) 

– January 2015 -  examine submissions received.  

– If there is sufficient interest as a result of this call, a 2nd 

stage competitive selection process will be held in order to 

allocate sites  

– IMPORTANT NOTE: The granting of any lease or 

disposal to facilitate this Housing Initiative will be subject 

to statutory approval by the Elected Members of Dublin 

City Council 

 

P
age 55



What do we get? 

P
age 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



Thank You! P
age 60


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of meeting dated 28th April 2014 and matters arising
	4 Update on Tenancy Protection Service
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	TPS Update 16th October 2014 FINAL
	threshold_advisory_report_on_rent_supplement

	5 Call for 'Expressions of Interest' to produce housing for public rental

